

ServiceNow Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualys WAS

User Guide Version 1.1.1

November 01, 2021

Copyright 2019-2021 by Qualys, Inc. All Rights Reserved.

Qualys and the Qualys logo are registered trademarks of Qualys, Inc. All other trademarks are the property of their respective owners.

Qualys, Inc. 919 E Hillsdale Blvd| 4th Floor Foster City, CA 94404 1 (650) 801 6100



Table of Contents

About this Guide	4
About Qualys Qualys Support	
Welcome to Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualy	s WAS 5
Key Features Pre-requisites	5 5
Get Started	6
Install the Application Configure the Application	6 7
Qualys WAS Integrations	10
Using the Qualys WAS Integrations	
Viewing Qualys WAS Data in ServiceNow	13
Viewing Web Application List Data in ServiceNow	
Viewing Web Application Vulnerable Item in ServiceNow	
Viewing Qualys KnowledgeBase Data in ServiceNow	
Field Mappings Table	16
Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration	
Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration	
Oualys Web Application List Integration	
Known Issues/Limitations	24

About this Guide

Welcome to Qualys Cloud Platform! In this guide, we will show you how to integrate the Qualys WAS module with ServiceNow's Application Vulnerability Response app. On successful integration, you will be able to run web application scans on the Qualys WAS app and then sync the Web applications, detections, knowledgebase as well as WAS Scan information from the scan to the ServiceNow Application Vulnerability Response app.

About Qualys

Qualys, Inc. (NASDAQ: QLYS) is a pioneer and leading provider of cloud-based security and compliance solutions. The Qualys Cloud Platform and its integrated apps help businesses simplify security operations and lower the cost of compliance by delivering critical security intelligence on demand and automating the full spectrum of auditing, compliance and protection for IT systems and web applications.

Founded in 1999, Qualys has established strategic partnerships with leading managed service providers and consulting organizations including Accenture, BT, Cognizant Technology Solutions, Deutsche Telekom, Fujitsu, HCL, HP Enterprise, IBM, Infosys, NTT, Optiv, SecureWorks, Tata Communications, Verizon and Wipro. The company is also founding member of the Cloud Security Alliance (CSA). For more information, please visit www.qualys.com

Qualys Support

Qualys is committed to providing you with the most thorough support. Through online documentation, telephone help, and direct email support, Qualys ensures that your questions will be answered in the fastest time possible. We support you 7 days a week, 24 hours a day. Access support information at www.qualys.com/support/

Welcome to Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualys WAS

Qualys Web Application Scanning (WAS) provides organizations with the ease of use, centralized management and integration capabilities they need to keep the attackers at bay and their web applications secure. Qualys WAS enables organizations to assess, track and remediate web application vulnerabilities.

With Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualys WAS, Qualys leverages the WAS APIs to integrate with ServiceNow. Use this integration to get a single glass pane view of all your web application scans in ServiceNow.

Key Features

- View all WAS-related QIDs from within ServiceNow
- Run web application scans with Qualys WAS and view their results on ServiceNow
- View the list of all web applications scanned by Qualys in ServiceNow

Pre-requisites

You must have a valid Qualys account subscription with **API access** and access to the **Web Application Security (WAS) module.**

To use this integration with ServiceNow, also ensure that you have access to the **Vulnerability Response app** on ServiceNow.

Refer to the ServiceNow Documentation for information on installing and accessing this application in ServiceNow.

Get Started

Here we will help you with the initial configuration and setup needed to get started.

Quick Steps

- Install the Application

- Configure the Application- Provide the API source details and test the connection to ensure the connection between ServiceNow and the defined source is working fine.

Install the Application

Visit the ServiceNow Online Store.

Search for Qualys WAS App, and click Contact Seller. Your Technical Account Manager (TAM) will contact you, and then ServiceNow provisions the app into an instance of your choice. The app then appears in the "Downloads" list of your instance. Click "Install" to start using the app.

In the Search field, type Qualys WAS, and then select Qualys WAS App from the left pane. After you are done, new module appears in your ServiceNow instance.

Configure the Application

Once you install the Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualys WAS app, you will need to configure it. Go to **Qualys WAS Integration** > **Configuration** to begin configuring the app.

servicenow Service Management		🥘 John Doe 🔹	Q 🗗 🖗 🥸
(19 Ellier navigator Calify Web Apple	cation Wuhwrability Configuration		
Allows Web Application	security informution to be downloaded from Qualys -		
Home * Quality	s API Server URL https://qualysapl.qualys.com		
Qualys WAS integration	sk Uvername quays_user		
E Integrations	* Password		
Configuration Save and Test Croders	tials		
Quarys Credentais WAS Detections Filter			đ
▼ Support			
O README			
• /			

On the Qualys Web Application Vulnerability Configuration page, enter the following details:

Step 1

Qualys API Server URL: Enter the API Server URL as per your subscription. For information on your API Server URL, refer the Identify your Qualys Platform page.

Username and Password: Enter valid Qualys Cloud Platform credentials for an account on the selected POD. Ensure that the credentials you use has API access enabled.

Use the **Save and Test Credentials** button to test the connection between ServiceNow and Qualys WAS. A success message is displayed when the connection is tested successfully.

servicenOW Service Management			🥘 John Doe 🔸	۵ ۵ ۵ ۵
(^{op} filler navigator	C Qualys Web Application Vulnerability	Configuration		
e 📩 o	Allows Web Application security information	n to be downloaded from Qualys .		
Home Qualys WAS Integration Integrations	* Qualys API Server URL * Username * Password	https://pub/spil.qub/s.com querys_ster		
Configuration Quarkys Credentials WAS Detections Filter	Save and Test Credentials			¢
♥ Support				
• /				

Step 2

Select the required filters from WAS Detection Filter. These filters are only applicable to Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration.

ser	vicencw serve Response	() სელის სადითი - ද ශි. ලී. ලී.
7	C = File-Gada Mill Scientises Control 2021 49 407021220	/ B = 100
10		
e a	Quality Findings Detections (most Filters	
w	The back this paties if you with its uses with some first of a description.	
-		
	Potential Naturabilities	8
	SearthyLevel	
0	Select all in Andred severity leads of the Antections that you add to spin, S	decker of a factor in the level point is an energy.
ш	Second g 1	9
۲	Secreta 2	9
0	Sewerity (
	Security 4	
	Security 5	2
	Vulnerability Type	
	Totaxi the All or the desired Astronability type in he symmetric for solar	derbanner.
	IN CRIMICICI, GATHERED	8
	SUNGITIVE, CONTEMP	8
	VICH RADIE ITY	8
	Finding Type	
	Select the All or the desired Finding type to be special. It hast one selection	Announg
	Durlyn	8
	Others (Rosp. Registrand, etc.)	8
	Closed WAS Detections	
	Unclose & this optime if you direct work in spee closed BHS detections.	
	Import Canoel Detro Idens	
	Update	

Select the required filters to sync WAS detections:

Severity level - Select the severity level on a scale of 1 to 5 with 5 being the highest severity.

Vulnerability - Select the type of vulnerability for which you want to view the results.

Finding type - Select the required finding type.

Closed WAS Detections - Select this check-box if you want to import the closed WAS detections in your search. The check-box is selected by default.

Configured filters will be applicable to both Confirmed and Potential detections or, just Confirmed detection, based on selection of the **Potential Vulnerabilities** check-box.

By default, all the check-boxes are selected and hence 'Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration' run will sync all the detections available in Qualys WAS module.

Qualys WAS Integrations

The Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualys WAS app offers four integrations. Access **Qualys WAS Integration** from the left panel and then click **Integrations** to view these integrations.

1.**Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration** – Syncs the WAS-related KnowledgeBase entries from the Qualys KnowledgeBase with ServiceNow.

Note: While the Qualys KnowledgeBase has several thousand QIDs, this integration syncs only those QIDs that are related to WAS.

- 2.**Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration** Fetches all the WAS detections related to the configured account from the Qualys platform.
- 3.**Qualys Web Application List Integration** Fetches all the Web applications associated with the configured account from the Qualys platform.
- 4.**Qualys Web Application Scan Summary Integration** Syncs all the scans-related data associated with the configured account from the Qualys platform.

servicenow Service Management								👜 John Doe + 🔍	c7 @ @
Pitter navigator	=	Applicati	on Vulnerability Integrations Now Search	Name	• Search			4 4 1 to 4 of	4 > >>
• • •	8	All > Sou	arce integration = Qualys Web Application Security	≡ Active	Source Integration	Source Instance	≣ Start time	■ Next Integration	≡ Run as
Home Qualys WAS Integration	Ö	()	Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration	false	Qualys Web Application Security	Qualys.Web.Application Yulnetability	(empty)	Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item I	(empty)
E Integrations	(\Box)	٢	Qualys Web Application List Integration	true	Qualys Web Application Security	Qualys Web Application Yumerability	(empty)	Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration	(empty)
Configuration	0	Û	Qualys Web Application Scan Summary Integration	false	Qualys Web Application Security	Qualys Web Application Vulnerability	(empty)	(empty)	(empty)
Qualys Credentials		0	Quabs Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration	true	Qualys Web Application Security	Qualys.Web Application Valuerability	(empty)	Quab's Web Application Scan Summary Inte	(empty)
V Support		Action	n on selected rows					-<	(4)⊨)⇒)⊳
TEADME									ġ

Use these integrations to sync data from the Qualys platform to ServiceNow. Refer to the sections below for details on using these integrations.

Using the Qualys WAS Integrations

Access the Qualys Integrations page by navigating to the **Qualys WAS Integration** in the left panel and then clicking **Integrations**. To configure/run an integration, select the integration from the right pane.

Name	Qualue Web Application List Integration				
Name					
Active		Application	Vulnerability Response Integration wi	<u>(</u>)	
Run	Daily	Source integration	Qualys Web Application Security	0	
Time	00:00:00	Source Instance	Qualys Web Application Vulnerability	(i)	
oose an integration	to trigger automatically upon the completi	on of the current integration run.			
Next Integration	Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration		(i)		

Note: The default Run for List Integration is set as **Daily** and default Time as 00:00:00. For the other three integrations the Run is set as **On Demand**.

You can choose to run the integration using one of the following options:

- Daily: Runs the integration daily at the configured time
- Weekly: Runs the integration weekly at the configured time of the configured day
- **Monthly**: Runs the integration monthly at the configured time of the configured month day
- Periodically: Runs the integration at the configured interval
- Once: Runs the integration only once at the configured date and time
- On-Demand: Runs the integration only when the "Execute Now" button is hit
- **Business Calendar: Entry Start:** Refer to the ServiceNow documentation for information on Business calendar.

• **Business Calendar: Entry End**: Refer to the ServiceNow documentation for information on Business calendar.

Sequence	Integration Name	Active	Default Run type	Default Time (if applicable)	Next Integration
1	Qualys Web Application List Integration	true	Daily	00:00:00	Qualys Knowledge Base Integration
2	Qualys Knowledge Base Integration	false	On-Demand	NA	Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration
3	Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration	false	On-Demand	NA	Qualys Web Application Scan Summary Integration
4	Qualys Web Application Scan Summary Integration	false	On-Demand	NA	NA

Note: As recommended by ServiceNow only 'Qualys Web Application List Integration' is kept active and other integrations are inactive, to let the customer add remediation rules, assignment rules etc for AVR. Customers can enable the inactive integrations once they have added desired rules.

The **Start Time** field defines the time after which the data needs to be synced from the Qualys platform. The blank field during the first run indicates that the integration would sync all data from the platform during the first run. All subsequent runs of the integration will only sync data post this start time.

Note: It is recommended to keep the **Start Time** field empty for the very first integration run of Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration, so that the application can sync all the vulnerabilities appropriately.

Note: Qualys recommends not making changes to the Integration Details section.

Click the **Execute Now** button when you are ready to run the integration or click **Update** to run the integration as per the defined schedule.

The Vulnerability Integration Runs tab at the bottom summarizes each integration run. This section displays the status of the integration runs and also informs the number of records synced between the Qualys Platform and ServiceNow.

Viewing Qualys WAS Data in ServiceNow

The ServiceNow Application Vulnerability Response (AVR) app helps you view all your application vulnerability on a single page. With the Vulnerability Response Integration for Qualys WAS app, you can view all your Qualys WAS data from the Qualys platform on the ServiceNow Application Vulnerability Response page.

Viewing Web Application List Data in ServiceNow

To view a list of Web Applications in ServiceNow, navigate to Application Vulnerability Response > Administration > Applications.

servicenow. Service Ma	anagement								john_doe - Q (ም 🖗 🖗
P application	8	=	Scanned Ap	pplications Search	Name	▼ Search		44		2 > >>
	©		S All							
Acciment to Ma	^	٤ <u>۵</u>	Q	■ Name ▲	■ Department	Business unit	≡ Support group	■ Version	\equiv Operational status	■ Source
Assigned to My Groups			i	Acunetix	Baby Care	Baby Care	Team Nova	Regular Perimeter Scan (7)	Operational	Veracode
All			()	Bitcoin Web Site	Hair Care	Hair Care	Team Fireball Comets	Regular Perimeter Scan (7)	Operational	Veracode
▼ Administration			i	Commons IO Test	Baby Care	Baby Care	Team Invaders	29 Apr 2020 Static	Operational	Veracode
Applications			i	DVWA	Skin Care	Skin Care	Team Mars	DVWA-Scan	Operational	Veracode
Assignment Rules			i	Google Gruyere	Skin Care	Skin Care	Team Venus	Regular Perimeter Scan (5)	Operational	Veracode
Vulnerability Calculators			i	Hackazon	Hair Care	Hair Care	Team Falcons	Regular Perimeter Scan (7)	Operational	Veracode
Remediation Target Rules Integrations			i	Hadoop	Hair Care	Hair Care	Team Oculus	Regular Perimeter Scan (8)	Operational	Veracode
Normalized Severity Maos	•		(i)	Netsparker	Skin Care	Skin Care	Team Pheonix	Regular Perimeter Scan (8)	Operational	Veracode
0			(i)	Public Firing Range	Baby Care	Baby Care	Team Eagles	Regular Perimeter Scan	Operational	Veracode

Filter by "Qualys" on the Source column to view applications scanned by Qualys.

Refer to the Field Mappings Table section for information on how Qualys WAS fields are mapped to fields in ServiceNow.

Viewing Web Application Vulnerable Item in ServiceNow

To view a list of web application detections in ServiceNow, navigate to **Application Vulnerability Response** > **Vulnerable** Items. Here you can use any of the pages that show the vulnerabilities based on assignee filters.

Servicenow. Service M	lanagement							J	john_doe 🕶 🔍 (ጋ 🖗
T application	8	=	Scanned A	pplications Search	Name	▼ Search		44	 1 to 12 of 1 	12 🕨 🕨
	0		Y AI	I						
Acciment to Me	^	2038	Q	Name 🔺	Department	Business unit	Support group	Version	Operational status	Source
Assigned to My Groups			i	Acunetix	Baby Care	Baby Care	Team Nova	Regular Perimeter Scan (7)	Operational	Veracode
All			i	Bitcoin Web Site	Hair Care	Hair Care	Team Fireball Comets	Regular Perimeter Scan (7)	Operational	Veracode
Administration			i	Commons IO Test	Baby Care	Baby Care	Team Invaders	29 Apr 2020 Static	Operational	Veracode
Applications			i	DVWA	Skin Care	Skin Care	Team Mars	DVWA-Scan	Operational	Veracode
Assignment Rules			()	Google Gruyere	Skin Care	Skin Care	Team Venus	Regular Perimeter Scan (5)	Operational	Veracode
Vulnerability Calculators			í	Hackazon	Hair Care	Hair Care	Team Falcons	Regular Perimeter Scan (7)	Operational	Veracode
Remediation Target Rules								Regular Perimeter Scan		
Integrations			()	Hadoop	Hair Care	Hair Care	Team Oculus	(8)	Operational	Veracode
Normalized Severity Maps			i	Netsparker	Skin Care	Skin Care	Team Pheonix	Regular Perimeter Scan (8)	Operational	Veracode
0			(i)	Public Firing Range	Baby Care	Baby Care	Team Eagles	Regular Perimeter Scan	Operational	Veracode

Filter by "Qualys" on the Source column to view detections identified by Qualys. Refer to the Field Mappings Table section for information on how Qualys WAS fields are mapped to fields in ServiceNow.

Viewing Qualys KnowledgeBase Data in ServiceNow

To view Qualys KnowledgeBase data in ServiceNow, navigate to **Application Vulnerability Response** > **Libraries** > **Third-Party**.

Servicence. Service Management				၂ john_doe - ၃ 다 ၇ တွဲ
Tapplication	≡ Appli	lication Vulnerability Entries Search for text 🔻 Se	arch	4
⊡ ★ ©			-1	
мрунсация типеталяку незронзе	101 U	2, ≣10	■ Category name	≡ Source
Vulnerable Items		Veracode-12 CWE-780	Cryptographic Issues	Veracode
Administration		Veracode-8 CWE-611	Information Leakage	Veracode
▼ Libraries		Veracode-28 CWE-98	Code Injection	Veracode
NVD		Veracode-1.CWE-73	Directory Traversal	Veracode
CWE		Veracode-28 CWE-95	Code Injection	Veracode
Third-Party				
Security Operations		Veracode-28 CWE-830	Code Injection	Veracode
▼ Utilities		Veracode-12 CWE-331	Cryptographic Issues	Veracode
SecOps Application Registry		Veracode-8 CWE-201	Information Leakage	Veracode
0		Veracode-21 CWE-113	CRLF Injection	Veracode

Filter by "Qualys" on the Source column to view the Qualys KnowledgeBase records.

Refer to the Field Mappings Table section for information on how Qualys WAS fields are mapped to fields in ServiceNow.

Viewing Web Application Scan Summary data in ServiceNow

ServiceNow Application Vulnerability Response app currently does not offer a screen to view Qualys web application scan summary data. The Qualys web application scan summary data is currently stored in the *sn_vul_app_vul_scan_summary* table of ServiceNow.

Refer to the Field Mappings Table section for information on how Qualys WAS fields are mapped to fields in ServiceNow.

Field Mappings Table

The Vulnerability Response Integration with Qualys WAS app maps fields from the Qualys WAS APIs to the fields on the ServiceNow AVR app. This section details how the fields from the WAS API are mapped to corresponding fields on the ServiceNow AVR UI.

Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration

The Qualys KnowledgeBase Integration syncs data from the Qualys platform to the sn_vul_app_vul_entry table of ServiceNow. The following table shows the mapping between Qualys and the ServiceNow UI:

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
<qid></qid>	ID	vuln qid
<severity_level></severity_level>	Source Severity	vuln severity level
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:2.0/AV:N/A C:L/Au:N/C:P/I:N/A:N/E:U/RL:W/RC: C</vector_string></pre>	Access complexity (v2)	AC: High (H), Medium (M), Low (L)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:2.0/AV:N/ AC:L/Au:N/C:P/I:N/A:N/E:U/RL:W/RC :C</vector_string></pre>	Access vector (v2)	AV: Local (L), Adjacent Network (A), Network (N)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:2.0/AV:N/A C:L/Au:N/C:P/I:N/A:N/E:U/RL:W/RC: C</vector_string></pre>	Authentication (v2)	Au: M (multiple), Single (S), None (N)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:2.0/AV:N/A C:L/Au:N/C:P/I:N/A:N/E:U/RL:W/RC: C</vector_string></pre>	Confidentiality impact (v2)	C: None (N), Partial (P), Complete - C
<pre></pre>	Integrity impact (v2)	C: None (N), Partial (P), Complete - C
<pre></pre>	Availability impact (v2)	A: None (N), Partial (P), Complete - C
<pre> cvss:2.0/AV:N/A C:L/Au:N/C:P/I:N/A:N/E:U/RL:W/RC: C </pre>	Remediation level (v2)	RL: Official Fix (OF), Temporary Fix (TF), Workaround (W), Unavailable (U)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:2.0/AV:N/A C:L/Au:N/C:P/I:N/A:N/E:U/RL:W/RC: C</vector_string></pre>	Report confidence (v2)	RC: Confirmed - C, Uncorroborated (UR), Unconfirmed (UC)

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
<cvss> <exploitability>1TY></exploitability></cvss>	Exploitability subscore (v2)	
<published_datetime></published_datetime>	Date published	Date on which the vuln published
<solution></solution>	Mitigation description	Description of the steps to address the vuln
<title></title>	Name	
<diagnosis></diagnosis>	Short description	
<solution></solution>	Remediation notes	
<diagnosis></diagnosis>	Threat	
<cvss></cvss>	Temporal score (v2)	CVSS v2 temporal score
<temporal></temporal>		
<cvss_v3></cvss_v3>	Temporal score (v3)	CVSS v3 temporal score
<temporal>4.7</temporal>		
<cvss_v3></cvss_v3>	Vulnerability score (v3)	
 <base/> 5.3		
<cvss></cvss>	Vector string (v2)	CVSS v2 vesctor string
 <vector_string> </vector_string>		
<cvss_v3></cvss_v3>	Vector string (v3)	CVSS v3 vesctor string
 <vector_string>NG> </vector_string>		
<vector_string>CVSS:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string>	Attack complexity (v3)	AC: High (H), Low (L)

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:3.0/AV:N/ AC:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	Attack vector (v3)	AV: Network (N), Adjacent (A), Local (L), Physical (P)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	Availability impact (v3)	A: None (N), High (H), Low (L)
<pre><vector_string>cvss:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	Confidentiality impact (v3)	C: None (N), High (H), Low (L)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	Exploit code maturity (v3)	E: Not Defined (X), Unproven (U), Proof-of-Concept (P), Functional (F), High (H)
<pre></pre>	Integrity impact (v3)	I: None (N), High (H), Low (L)
<pre><vector_string>cvss:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	Privileges required (v3)	PR: None (N), High (H), Low(L)
<pre></pre>	Remediation level (v3)	RL: Not Defined (X), Official Fix (O), Temporary Fix (T), Workaround (W), Unavailable (U)
<pre></pre> <pre></pre>	Report confidence (v3)	RC: Not Defined (X), Unknown (U), Reasonable (R), Confirmed (C)
<pre><vector_string>cvss:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	Scope change (v3)	S: Unchanged (U), Changed (C)
<pre><vector_string>CVSS:3.0/AV:N/A C:L/PR:N/UI:N/S:U/C:L/I:N/A:N/E:U/ RL:W/RC:C</vector_string></pre>	User interaction (v3)	UI: None(N), Required (R)

Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration

The Qualys Web Application Vulnerable Item Integration syncs data from the Qualys platform to the sn_vul_app_vulnerable_item table of ServiceNow. The following table shows the mapping between Qualys and the ServiceNow UI:

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
<webapp> </webapp>	Source Application ID	Web app ID
<id>web_app_id<!--<br-->id></id>		
<uniqueid></uniqueid>	Source AVIT ID	unique Id from API response
<qid></qid>	Vulnerability	
source_scan_id	Source Scan ID	
<severity></severity>	Source Severity	Severity of the vuln detection (1 to 5)
<webapp></webapp>	Application Release	Web app name
 <name>web_app_ name</name>		
<firstdetecteddat e></firstdetecteddat 	First Found	
<lastdetecteddate ></lastdetecteddate 	Last Found	
Deferral date	ignore_date	
Deferral notes	ignore_reason	
<lasttesteddate></lasttesteddate>	Last Scan Date	Note: Qualys WAS stores this time in the UTC format. The integration converts this UTC time into the time zone configured for this ServiceNow instance.
	Last Opened	Note: This field is populated based on when the record was synced from the Qualys platform to ServiceNow. This field is populated by ServiceNow and does not correspond to a field in Qualys.
Name	Scan summary name	QID title
Name	Short Description	Combination of QID and Web App name
	Source	Qualys (Hardcoded)
<payloadinstance< td=""><td>Source Request</td><td></td></payloadinstance<>	Source Request	
- <payload> + <request> ></request></payload>		

WAS API Response XML	ServiceNow UI		
<response></response>	Source Response		
	Source link	Link to finding on Qualys UI. This field is generated by ServiceNow AVR.	
<payloadinstance > <request></request></payloadinstance 	Location		
<link/> >			
<finding> <name> qid_title </name> </finding>	Summary	QID title	
from KB to AVIT table	Vulnerability Summary	QID title (from KB)	
from KB to AVIT table	Vulnerability explanation	DIAGNOSIS from QID (KB)	
from KB to AVIT table	Recommendation	SOLUTION from QID (KB)	
<status></status>	Source Remediation Status	Status of the respective detections	

Field in Qualys Corresponding Field on Expected Values WAS API Response ServiceNow UI

Note: STATE and REASON fields are mapped based on 'Source Remediation Status' field and sn_vul_app_state_map table.

Qualys Web Application List Integration

The Qualys Web Application List Integration syncs data from the Qualys platform to the sn_vul_app_scanned_application table of ServiceNow. The following table shows the mapping between Qualys and the ServiceNow UI:

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
<webapp></webapp>	Name	Web app name
 <name>web_app_ name</name>		
<webapp></webapp>	Source Application ID	Web app ID
 <id>web_app_id<!--<br-->id></id>		
	Source	Qualys (Hardcoded)
<url></url>	Description	Web app URL

Qualys Web Application Scan Summary Integration

The Qualys Web Application Scan Summary Integration syncs data from the Qualys platform to the sn_vul_app_vul_scan_summary table of ServiceNow. The following table shows the mapping between Qualys and the ServiceNow table:

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
<wasscan> <id></id> </wasscan>	Source Scan ID	WAS Scan ID
<wasscan> <id></id> <name> </name> </wasscan>	Scan Summary Name	WAS Scan Name
<webapp> <id></id> </webapp>	Source App ID	Application Release

Field in Qualys WAS API Response XML	Corresponding Field on ServiceNow UI	Expected Values
launchedDate	Last Scan date	Note: Qualys WAS stores this time in the UTC format. The integration converts this UTC time into the time zone configured for this ServiceNow instance.
launchedDate	Last Dynamic Scan Date	Note: Qualys WAS stores this time in the UTC format. The integration converts this UTC time into the time zone configured for this ServiceNow instance.

Known Issues/Limitations

- Qualys WAS module does not support 'Sensetive Content' and 'Potential' as a vulnerability type for non-qualys (eg. Burp, Bugcrowd) detections.
- Qualys WAS API returns 0 detections for 'Information_Gathered' vulnerability type for non-qualys (eg. Burp, Bugcrowd) detections.